# The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination

# implementation support guide

26 April 2021



for every child

WHO and UNICEF continue to monitor the situation closely for any changes that may affect this interim guidance. Should any factors change, WHO and UNICEF will issue a further update. Otherwise, this interim guidance document will expire 2 years after the date of publication.

© World Health Organization and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2021. Some rights reserved. This work is available under the CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO licence.

WHO reference number: WHO/2019-nCoV/NDVP/CHWs\_role/2021.1

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination

> implementation support guide

> > 26 April 2021







# Contents

Acknowledgements	1
Abbreviations	2
Executive summary	3
1. Introduction	4
1.2 Background resources	4
1.3 Document updates and constraints	4
1.4 Target audience	5
2. Key community health worker roles in the COVID-19 vaccines rollout	6
2.1 Planning and coordination	6
2.2 Identification of target populations	6
2.3 Vaccine acceptance and uptake	7
2.4 Community mobilization for service delivery	7
2.5 Vaccine rollout tracking and follow-up	8
3. Human resources for health: optimizing roles and system support	9
3.1 Policy and regulatory preparedness	9
3.2 Resources and funding	9
3.3 Training and supervision	9
3.4 Counting and vaccinating CHWs	10
3.5 Infection prevention and control	11
3.6 Health system strengthening	11
References	13

### **Acknowledgements**

#### Lead authors

Madeleine Ballard (Community Health Impact Coalition); Anne Detjen (UNICEF); Catherine Kane (World Health Organization [WHO]); Maureen Momanyi (United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF]).

#### Contributors

This guidance document was jointly developed by WHO, UNICEF and the Community Health Impact Coalition.

**WHO:** Benedetta Allegranzi, Jhilmil Bahl, Diana Chang-Blanc, Shalini Desai, Carole Fry, Shoshanna Goldstein, Tracey Goodman, Michelle McIsaac, Lisa Menning, Teri Reynolds, Amani Siyam, Victoria Willet.

**UNICEF:** Sanghita Bhattacharyya, Julianne Birungi, Karin Källander, Jiawen Elyssa Liu, Imran Mirza, Alex Muhereza, Remy Mwamba, Rory Nefdt, Deepa Pokharel, Claudia Vivas Torrealba, Ahmadu Yakubu.

**Community Health Impact Coalition:** Rebecca Alban (VillageReach); Julia Bishop (One to One); Nandini Choudhury (Possible); Molly Christiansen (Living Goods); Kevin Fioiri (Integrate Health); Jennifer Foth (Living Goods); Ari Johnson (Muso); Stella Kanyere (Living Goods); Andrew Karlyn (Living Goods); Jordan Lerner (Dimagi); Sarah Lindsay (Living Goods); Kyle Muther (Last Mile Health); Helen Olsen (Medic Mobile); Dr Daniel Palazuelos (Partners in Health); Mallika Raghavan (Last Mile Health); Ash Rogers (Lwala Community Alliance); Debbie Rogers (Praekelt); Ami Waters (Last Mile Health); Melissa West (VillageReach); Carey Westgate (Living Goods).

#### **Technical expert revision**

This collaborative report is based on insights from many people: Arnhold Institute for Global Health: Duncan Maru, Sheela Maru BRAC: Adam Schwartz Bwindi Community Hospital (Uganda): Nahabwe Haven CARE: Feven Mekuria Core Group: Nicole Grable Digital Medic: Victoria Ward Johns Hopkins: Henry Perry London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine: Nikita Arora, Luisa Enria Pan American Health Organization: Malhi Cho +Affiliation: Robert Steinglass.

# **Abbreviations**

AEFI	adverse events following immunization	
CHW	community health worker	
EIR	electronic immunization registries	
EPI	Expanded Programme on Immunization	
IFRC	International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societie	
IPC	infection prevention and control	
MSH	Management Sciences for Health	
NCC	national coordinating committee	
NDVP	national deployment and vaccination plan	
PPE	personal protective equipment	
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund	
VIRAT	Vaccine Readiness Assessment Tool	
WHO	World Health Organization	

+ 2 + +

### **Executive summary**

This guide is intended to support national governments in developing their national deployment and vaccination plans (NDVP) for COVID-19 vaccines by outlining the roles, needs and opportunities for community health workers (CHWs) (International Labour Organization, 2007)<sup>1</sup> to contribute.

This note builds on and is structured to align with the Guidance on developing a national deployment and vaccination plan for COVID-19 vaccines (1) and the COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction Readiness Assessment Tool (VIRAT/VRAF 2.0) (2) developed by WHO and UNICEF. This document provides human resources for health options and considerations for national governments in developing robust NDVPs for the introduction of the COVID-19 vaccine(s) that leverage community-based resources.

Half the world's population lacks access to essential health services (3); these and other health inequities, which in turn lead to inequities in health outcomes, is amplifying the challenge of COVID-19 vaccination. Among key issues for the success globally of the vaccination effort hinges on overcoming insufficient and inequitably distributed human resources and infrastructure; inequalities in access based on gender and other social stratifiers; and mistrust in health care systems that have left too many people behind.

Most CHWs are members of the communities within which they work, and are reflective of them; therefore, they are a key link between their communities and health systems. They are well positioned to help overcome access and equity barriers (4). National and subnational governments can unlock this potential by:

- Identifying CHW contributing roles at each stage of COVID-19 vaccines rollout.
- Counting and vaccinating CHWs within initial vaccine allocation as part of the essential health workforce to optimally support the COVID-19 response and continuity of essential health services.
- Recognizing and remunerating CHWs commensurate to tasks undertaken and training. CHWs who are linked to health systems through regular compensation, dedicated supervision and accreditation are best placed to support an effective pandemic response and to prevent the next one.
- Considering community-based health worker representation on national coordinating committees (NCC) and subnational planning groups to contribute their community knowledge.
- Ensuring appropriate training (5–10) and ongoing supervision for CHWs delivering COVID-19 services, particularly for novel roles and tasks.

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide

CHWs provide health education and referrals for a wide range of services, and provide support and assistance to communities, families and individuals with preventive health measures and gaining access to appropriate curative health and social services. They create a bridge between providers of health, social and community services and communities that may have difficulty in accessing these services. Updating the International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO). Draft ISCO-08 Group Definitions Occupations in Health. ILO; 2012 (https://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/isco/docs/health.pdf, accessed 6 March 2021).

### 1. Introduction

This guide is intended to support national governments developing their national deployment and vaccination plans (NDVPs) for COVID-19 vaccines by outlining the roles, needs and opportunities for community health workers (CHWs)<sup>1</sup> to contribute.

This note builds on and is structured to align with the Guidance on developing a national deployment and vaccination plan for COVID-19 vaccines (1). By providing CHW-relevant considerations for the VIRAT Tool (2), this document aims to support national governments in developing robust NDVPs for introducing COVID-19 vaccine(s) that leverage all the community-based deployment, implementation and monitoring tools at their disposal.

### 1.2 Background resources

For background information on COVID-19, refer to Chapter 1 of the WHO Guidance on developing a national deployment and vaccination plan for COVID-19 vaccines (1), SAGE values framework for the allocation and prioritization of COVID-19 vaccination (11), and WHO SAGE Roadmap for prioritizing uses of COVID-19 vaccines in the context of limited supply (12).

WHO, UNICEF and the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC) have also published interim Guidance on community-based health care in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic (13). In addition, WHO interim guidance on health workforce policy and management in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic response (4) broadly outlines the potential roles of CHWs during COVID-19, including delivery of essential health services.

As of the beginning of 2021, most vaccine candidates in clinical evaluation require two doses for optimal immunogenicity and efficacy. WHO's landscape analysis of COVID-19 vaccines in clinical development (14) is updated regularly.

### 1.3 Document updates and constraints

The earliest use authorization of COVID-19 vaccines was granted at the end of 2020, with additional vaccines anticipated in early 2021. Vaccines are expected to ship soon after authorization, though initial quantities will be limited *(1)*.

Given the rapid evolution of COVID-19 vaccine development, this guidance is based on information available as of March 2021 and will be updated as new information becomes available. Vaccine requirements (including cold chain and handling), funding institutions and country-level health system characteristics will have a significant impact on the most effective strategies that countries can employ to rollout COVID-19 vaccines. Where possible, relevant considerations for different potential scenarios are described.

The document was developed following a review of immunization, human resources for health, CHW and COVID-19 specific guidance and evidence, including key documents regarding COVID-19 vaccines, infection prevention and control (IPC), community engagement and health workforce. An interorganizational group composed of WHO and UNICEF focal points and civil society experts in

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As defined by ILO International Standard Classification of Occupations (ISCO), CHWs are a distinct occupational group (ISCO 3253).

community health provided expert opinion where explicit guidance either lacks granularity or is linked to evolving knowledge of this novel global deployment of the largest ever immunization campaign.

This document will be added to the WHO Country Readiness and Deployment portal (15), which houses guidance, tools and training to support COVID-19 vaccines deployment. The portal includes a COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction and Deployment Costing Tool (16).

In this document we share *potential* roles of CHWs during the rollout of COVID-19 vaccines. Alongside the overall package of training and capacity materials provided by the Country Readiness and Delivery team, this note provides options for countries to incorporate and leverage community-based resources in their NDVPs.

### 1.4 Target audience

This document is intended to be used by ministries of health, with support from WHO and UNICEF country offices.

### 2. Key community health worker roles in the COVID-19 vaccines rollout

Community-based health workers routinely play critical roles in new vaccine introduction, including in planning, identification of target groups, community engagement and mobilization, service delivery, and in tracking and follow-up.

Alongside other community-based providers, CHWs are key interlocutors, with their knowledge of "last mile" health service delivery, experience supporting vaccine acceptance and uptake, and shared lived experience that fosters trust and credibility within communities. Clearly defining and costing the inputs of CHWs within the NDVP will assist governments and implementation planners at all levels in addressing the scale, speed, and complexity involved in COVID-19 vaccine rollout.

Section 3.1 (Policy and regulatory preparedness) includes critical considerations for situations in which national governments decide to consider the implications of providing temporary clearance for CHWs to administer a specific COVID-19 vaccine. Other service providers must be sensitized on the role of CHWs to facilitate effective work within interdisciplinary teams.

#### 2.1 Planning and coordination

- Include CHW representatives on national and subnational planning committees.
- Include CHWs as part of the first wave of vaccinations of the essential health workforce.
- Clearly define and cost the role of community-based health workers in vaccine rollout.

WHO recommends that national coordinating committees (NCC), responsible for planning, coordination and oversight of COVID-19 vaccine rollout, "be presided over by senior-level ministry of health officials, and have a multisectoral representation composed of senior-level officials from relevant ministries (e.g. social welfare, pension service, women's affairs/gender, communications, finance, transport etc.), external partners, representatives from private sector providers and civil society organizations, with decisionmaking authority" (1). Health workers, including CHWs, should also be represented on NCCs, both through respective community health directorates or equivalent and/or civil society representation.

Given their knowledge of the communities in which they serve, CHW representation on NCCs, and regional and local decision-making bodies can add value (17). CHWs are well-placed to conduct surveys, focus groups and community meetings to gather in advance preferences on vaccine strategy and sites to maximize uptake, and promptly address misinformation to reduce reluctance.

They are well placed to participate in micro-planning with other health workers and stakeholders to develop and execute strategies to reach people outside of clinical settings (particularly those who are mobile, "hard to find", or may have difficulty travelling to a fixed site) and identify older adults or other target groups in the community. Their contributions can inform subnational, facility-led and local action micro-planning processes for COVID-19 vaccine distribution.

### 2.2 Identification of target populations

COVID-19 vaccination of adults can establish or build on existing adult immunization programmes. The most vulnerable populations are the most difficult to immunize due to a lack of contact with the health system; CHWs may already be in touch with and can help identify these "hidden" populations, including those with co-morbidities (18). Early COVID-19 contact tracing evidence indicates that CHWs' landscape

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide 🔶

6

knowledge is "invaluable" to overcoming tracing failures and significantly shortened travel to vaccination times, ultimately leading to more successful outcomes (19).

With adequate training, CHWs also can conduct outreach and data capture, ideally using existing platforms and tools (20), with the introduction of the COVID-19 vaccine serving as a catalyst to strengthen existing mechanisms, including potentially expanding the use of digital systems:

- Forecasting: In some cases, inventory forecasting is constrained by the fact that the Expanded Programme on Immunization (EPI) uses population estimates from outdated censuses; top-off levels are often not well-aligned with actual populations. CHW household registration and mapping supports better forecasting and denominator figures.
- Tracking: Identify and locate target populations, ensuring the identification of "hidden and at-risk populations". Electronic immunization registries (EIR) can identify coverage gaps. CHWs can follow-up with patients who are under-vaccinated (21). Regardless of whether community EIRs exist, CHWs can work closely with the appropriate health facilities to follow-up on defaulters and close coverage gaps.
- Identification: Multi-dose vaccine distribution requires identity verification and longitudinal follow-up. In many cases, CHWs are trusted interlocutors who can help to identify people in the community they serve to ensure individuals are in the target group and that they do not receive fewer or more than the required number of doses.

A shared data schema for vaccine delivery is currently under development.

#### 2.3 Vaccine acceptance and uptake

CHWs are essential to engagement activities with community leaders and decision-makers, driving community-level change by working within social dynamics and institutional and social structures.

The effectiveness of immunization programmes, including COVID-19 vaccines delivery, relies on population uptake and acceptance of vaccines, achieved through a range of strategies (22). It also requires trust, which many CHWs have built in their communities. Global evidence shows that CHWs play an important role in vaccine promotion and acceptance: whether through community dialogue and engagement, education, trust-building, myth-busting, on- and offline social listening, or facilitating community entry (23).

There are concerted global efforts to spread misinformation (incorrect information unintentionally spread) and disinformation (incorrect information created and shared with the intent to cause harm) about potential COVID-19 vaccines (24). The infodemic and mistrust in the COVID-19 vaccination effort are global phenomena that affect countries to varying degrees (25–30), requiring a multi-layered infodemic management, risk, social and behaviour change communications and community engagement efforts. This includes stakeholder coordination and alignment with journalists and media, along with social listening to inform contextually appropriate information dissemination strategies and messages.

Multi-tiered dissemination and two-way dialogue strategies may comprise a variety of media contextualized by audience, monitored and adapted over time to identify concerns, reasons for mistrust and misinformation so these can be effectively targeted and addressed. Community engagement and social mobilization will be instrumental to address contextually specific community needs around the world.

A comprehensive approach to vaccine education, engagement and informed consent requires skilled interpersonal communications by trusted sources of health information. Trained and appropriately supported, CHWs can uncover and understand individual and community perceptions, beliefs and barriers and address these with evidence-based and contextually appropriate solutions ("myth-busting") (31).

#### 2.4 Community mobilization for service delivery

Given cost, the possibility of receiving ultra-cold chain vaccines and other logistical considerations, countries may opt to use fixed site settings for vaccine rollout. In countries with limited health care

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide + + + 7 + + 7

infrastructure, without refrigeration, and significant rural/remote settings, maintaining effective cold chain may not be feasible. CHWs can mobilize target populations and accompany them to immunization centres (*32*).

If vaccine outreach does happen, CHWs also may arrange transport, lodging and nourishment for vaccinators and identify outreach locations that are likely to reach populations while allowing for appropriate distancing and IPC measures (17). As members of communities, CHWs are well placed to conduct identity verification and scheduling.

Insufficient evidence is available regarding the use of trained, supervised CHWs to administer COVID-19 vaccines, including at fixed sites where health professionals can address adverse events. The issue is under review, and the authors will continuously review experiences from countries where this role is being assigned to CHWs.

### 2.5 Vaccine rollout tracking and follow-up

CHWs can help overcome challenges to achieving high coverage of novel populations by conducting patient registration (33), tracking vaccine delivery and timing between doses, monitoring for adverse events following immunization (AEFI) and directing people experiencing AEFI to health facilities (34, 35). Controlled trials indicate that CHWs play a critical role identifying, following up and linking defaulters to immunization services (35, 36).

Activity	Community health worker roles
Planning and coordination	<ul> <li>Contribute their knowledge of "last mile" health service delivery, promoting vaccine acceptance and uptake, and community mobilization expertise, including through CHW representation on NCCs and subnational planning teams.</li> <li>Conduct vaccine-related surveys, focus groups and community meetings as part of the preparatory/planning process.</li> </ul>
Identification of target populations	Map locations of priority target groups within communities to be vaccinated in the first wave of vaccination and others as more vaccines become available, and register households to ensure accurate forecasting (37).
Vaccine acceptance and uptake	<ul> <li>Listen to community feedback and monitor community conversations. Based on social listening, work towards trust building, myth-busting and/ or encouragement to facilitate effective community entry and acceptance among target communities (i.e. demand generation).</li> <li>Mobilize community influencers such as teachers, youth groups, women and men's groups, and community-based organizations, to create an enabling environment for COVID-19 vaccination acceptance and uptake.</li> <li>Engage communities in continuous dialogue to promote COVID-19 vaccination, build community trust and provide information about public health and social measures such as use of masks, hand washing and physical distancing.</li> </ul>
Vaccination rollout tracking and follow-up	<ul> <li>CHWs can mobilize target populations and accompany them to immunization sites.</li> <li>During vaccine outreach, identify locations that are likely to reach target populations and potentially identify lodging and nourishment options for vaccinators spending the night.</li> <li>Help with vaccination status verification and scheduling.</li> </ul>

# 3. Human resources for health: optimizing roles and system support

In line with WHO SAGE guiding principles for countries to follow in planning and implementing a new vaccine, it is imperative to ensure sufficient financial and human resources to ensure continuity of essential health services alongside vaccine delivery.

As noted in the guidance on developing NDVPs (1), a range of activities are necessary to align requirements, policies and support for human resources for health. Optimizing the role of CHWs within interdisciplinary health worker teams should incorporate the following preparedness and response principles and activities.

#### 3.1 Policy and regulatory preparedness

- Create supportive policies and regulation to recognize and remunerate CHWs.
- Tailor tasks according to the local context.
- Issue time-limited regulatory practice waivers for relevant tasks.
- Enrol CHWs in regular health system workforce systems.

In some countries, CHWs routinely administer intramuscular medicines (5–10, 38). Under circumstances where national governments assess the feasibility of CHWs to administer a specific COVID-19 vaccine, this must be supported intensively by training in vaccine handling delivery and adverse event management; and supervision – see modules available on OpenWHO (39); and by provision of adequate personal protective equipment (PPE). Ministries may need to address concerns from other occupational groups regarding ensuring skills acquisition and training, supervision structure, and perceived economic competition.

#### 3.2 Resources and funding

Clearly define the processes and costs involved in engaging CHWs.

Costs that should be budgeted for all roles include pre-service and in-service training; deployment; supplies, including hand hygiene supplies and PPE; supervision and performance management; and remuneration. While several of the investments required for rapid vaccine rollout are the same as those required to deliver essential health services and create or reinforce the infrastructure necessary to prevent the next pandemic, additional resources are required. COVID-19 vaccines should not replace budgets for other essential health services, including routine immunization.

Existing tools like the UNICEF/Management Sciences for Health [MSH] Community Health Planning and Costing Tool (40), COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction and Deployment Costing Tool (16) and the GAVI/UNICEF Improving immunisation coverage and equity through the effective use of geospatial technologies and data landscape analysis (41) can help provide rapid cost estimates across relevant domains.

#### 3.3 Training and supervision

As vaccine knowledge and availability evolve, ministries of health and NCCs can identify their human resource needs, prepare learning materials and training modalities, and outline requirements for supportive supervision.

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide

9

CHWs, who are likely to be reflective of the general population, may have localized, subjective opinions that contrast with public health knowledge.

In an online training of 1100 CHWs in Mozambique in September 2020 (42), only 48% answered correctly that human-to-human spread of the COVID-19 disease occurs through contact with an infected person when they cough or sneeze close to someone; 42% answered that COVID-19 is a disease for the rich which does not affect the poor, while 38% answered that is false and another 20% were unsure.

Competency-based education and learning programmes, tailored to the setting, will be required to prepare CHWs and their communities for vaccination campaigns, including on highlighting the importance of preventing the spread of COVID-19; use and disposal of PPE; the COVID-19 vaccines; interpersonal skills and communication; and community engagement.

WHO is developing (1):

- tools to quantify health worker requirements for vaccination teams;
- an online learning package for health workers (39) and national focal points (43);
- classroom and blended learning materials (slides, videos, etc.); and
- post-learning reference and support materials (job aids, checklists and summarized reference materials).

Translating and culturally adapting materials for a range of workers, including those with low literacy, may be required. Qualitative evidence suggests CHWs are more motivated to participate in training activities if their time is compensated and if they receive certificates or other types of recognition following demonstrable attainment of the relevant competencies, as a paving stone for career development.

Countries may also want to build or scale-up digital tools for training and supportive supervision, in addition to those provided through OpenWHO (43).

#### 3.4 Counting and vaccinating CHWs

- Include CHWs in human resources for health information systems by updating or creating a list that, at minimum, stratifies CHWs according to geographic location and competence.
- Include CHWs among essential health workers prioritized for vaccination, based on their COVID-19 and continuity of essential health services delivery roles.

The WHO SAGE values framework (11), WHO SAGE prioritization roadmap (12), and the fair allocation mechanism for COVID-19 vaccines (44) through the COVAX Facility recommend that countries prioritize health workers among the first groups for vaccination.

WHO recognizes that the health worker target population group, based on tasks performed rather than employment status, includes CHWs. To operationalize the initial health worker vaccine allocation, planners should access or create a master list or, at minimum, geographically stratified estimates of CHWs. Particularly in low- and middle-income countries, CHWs are informal, geographically dispersed and often are not nationally accredited or registered. Data gathered for the enumeration of health workers for prioritized vaccination can augment national human resources for health information systems.

Counting and vaccinating CHWs has critical equity implications. Predominantly female and of lower socioeconomic status, CHWs often receive less attention and resources than other health workers, yet in numerous contexts they are the first point of care for vulnerable populations generally, and especially for pregnant women, children and infants. Vaccination campaigns often engage CHWs and auxiliary groups (community health "volunteers") on a short-term and unpaid basis to support demand generation, community engagement, outreach, educating communities and dispelling myths. In spite of their important role, their informal status widens the equity gap and reinforces stereotyped gender roles.

Where volunteers can be requested to support surge capacity in the initiation of COVID-19 vaccination, remuneration should be provided when labour is provided as regular work. Volunteers should not be coerced from a labour perspective into performing unpaid roles for the duration of vaccination campaigns. COVID-19 vaccination presents an opportunity to redress this and reinforce equity and economic objectives of health system strengthening.

Health workers engaged in vaccination activities should be prioritized in vaccine quantification exercises, including those who support CHWs, are nongovernmental organization-managed or are within voluntary groups (e.g. Zambia's paid community health assistants and informal community health volunteers; Ethiopia's paid health extension workers and Women's Development Army volunteers; Bangladesh's 40 000 BRAC-supported CHWs).

Accuracy of resource allocation, vaccine procurement, deployment planning and measuring vaccination coverage all depend on accurate disaggregated data on health workers.

#### 3.5 Infection prevention and control

Countries will need to plan for, resource and implement IPC and environmental measures when providing vaccination, including the appropriate use of recommended PPE by health workers and availability of water, hygiene and sanitation facilities or, at minimum, hand sanitizer. For more information, please see the COVID-19 vaccination training for health workers (45).

CHWs will need to wear medical masks (46) if undertaking COVID-19 vaccination. To avoid vaccination events inadvertently becoming transmission events for high-risk populations, it is important that CHWs are trained in the IPC measures set out in the Aide memoire: infection prevention and control (IPC) principles and procedures for COVID-19 vaccination activities (45); and that the measures are implemented, including hand and respiratory hygiene, screening for symptoms of COVID-19, (vaccinators and public) mask use by the public, physical distancing and waste management strategies.

Other PPE will need to be available in vaccination clinics in case it is required for health workers' protection when dealing with vaccine adverse events, to prevent exposure of non-intact skin to blood or body fluids or if a suspected case of COVID-19 is identified during the screening process (45).

Whether at fixed sites or in the community, CHWs can mobilize the community to set up IPC stations and support IPC measures (47).

#### 3.6 Health system strengthening

The introduction of a new vaccine provides the opportunity to improve not only the country's immunization programme, but its wider health system. It is an important opportunity to adopt a gender, equity and human rights lens, including empowering CHWs, many of whom are women. Many of the activities carried out to prepare, implement and monitor the introduction of COVID-19 vaccination are the same as those necessary to more efficiently deliver routine health services.

Professionalized and institutionalized CHWs, who receive regular compensation, dedicated supervision, accreditation and ongoing career development, will be well placed to undertake the roles outlined above – not only in this pandemic but in the future.

In line with the WHO Guideline on health policy and system support to optimize community health worker programmes (20) and UNICEF recommendations (40, 48), countries can seize the opportunity to achieve a well-trained and motivated health workforce, and to advance gender and equity, by aligning:

- **Role and recruitment:** Countries should clearly define, document and communicate what role CHWs will play in vaccine rollout and how CHWs are recruited/chosen for these activities.
- **Training:** CHWs should receive initial and ongoing training related to the roles they are expected to fulfil and on IPC measures.

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide 🔶 🔶 🔶 🕂 🚺 🔶 🔶

- Accreditation: CHWs' knowledge/competencies should be evaluated to ensure they meet a minimum standard prior to assuming any COVID-19 vaccination role, with provisions made for re-evaluation if necessary.
- Equipment and supplies: All necessary supplies, including access to hand hygiene, PPE, waste management items such as sharps disposal boxes and job aids, should be made available to CHWs and monitored on an ongoing basis to reduce the risk of substantial stockout periods (45). As a prerequisite, CHWs should be safeguarded against carrying out COVID-19 vaccination activities in the absence of adequate PPE.
- **Supervision:** CHWs involved in vaccination campaigns, as with any work, should be supported by dedicated, trained supervisors with training on IPC measures.
- Incentives/remuneration: CHWs should be paid to do this work at a competitive rate relative to the national labour market benchmark (at least minimum wage, if not more competitive). In line with the WHO CHW Guideline (20), CHWs should not be paid primarily with performance-based incentives.
- **Community involvement:** CHWs should be supported to participate in ongoing dialogue with communities on health issues, including by using the data they gather.
- Opportunity for advancement: Career advancement opportunities should exist for CHWs who perform well during vaccination campaign activities.
- Data: CHWs should document home visits and vaccination activities in a standardized format (preferably digital) that can be readily reviewed by supervisor(s), reported to public sector monitoring and evaluation systems, and shared with communities.
- Integration with health system: CHWs' role in vaccination efforts should be recognized as part of the formal health system, i.e. policies are in place that define their roles, tasks, relationship to the health system. The national health budget should include appropriate provisions.

# References

- 1. Guidance on developing a national deployment and vaccination plan for COVID-19 vaccines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Vaccine\_deployment-2020.1, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 2. COVID-19 Vaccine Introduction Readiness Assessment Tool. Geneva: World Health Organization and United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336188, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Tracking universal health coverage: 2017 global monitoring report. Geneva: World Health Organization and the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/World Bank; 2017 (https://www.who.int/healthinfo/universal\_health\_coverage/ report/2017/en/, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Health workforce policy and management in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic response. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-health\_workforce-2020.1, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 5. Malarcher S, Meirik O, Lebetkin E, Shah I, Spieler J, Stanback J. Provision of DMPA by community health workers: what the evidence shows. Contraception. 2011;83(6):495-503. doi: 10.1016/j.contraception.2010.08.013.
- Chin-Quee D, Bratt J, Malkin M, Nduna MM, Otterness C, Jumbe L et al. Building on safety, feasibility, and acceptability: the impact and cost of community health worker provision of injectable contraception. Glob Health Sci Pract. 2013;1(3):316-27. doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-13-00025.
- Olawo AA, Bashir I, Solomon M, Stanback J, Ndugga BM, Malonza I. "A cup of tea with our CBD agent ... ": community provision of injectable contraceptives in Kenya is safe and feasible. Glob Health Sci Pract. 2013;1(3):308–15. doi: 10.9745/ GHSP-D-13-00040.
- Abdul-Hadi RA, Abass MM, Aiyenigba BO, Oseni LO, Odafe S, Chabikuli ON et al. The effectiveness of community based distribution of injectable contraceptives using community health extension workers in Gombe State, Northern Nigeria. Afr J Reprod Health. 2013;17(2):80-8.
- Hoke TH, Wheeler SB, Lynd K, Green MS, Razafindravony BH, Rasamihajamanana E et al. Community-based provision of injectable contraceptives in Madagascar: 'task shifting' to expand access to injectable contraceptives. Health Policy Plan. 2012;27(1):52-9. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czr003.
- 10. Stanback J, Mbonye AK, Bekiita M. Contraceptive injections by community health workers in Uganda: a nonrandomized community trial. Bull World Health Organ. 2007;85(10):768-73. doi: 10.2471/blt.07.040162.
- 11. SAGE Values framework for the allocation and prioritization of COVID-19 vaccination. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/334299, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 12. WHO SAGE Roadmap for prioritizing uses of COVID-19 vaccines in the context of limited supply. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/who-sage-roadmap-for-prioritizing-uses-of-covid-19-vaccines-in-the-context-of-limited-supply, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Guidance on community-based health care in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. Geneva: World Health Organization and UNICEF; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Comm\_health\_care-2020.1, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 14. Draft landscape and tracker of COVID-19 candidate vaccines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/draft-landscape-of-covid-19-candidate-vaccines, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 15. COVID-19 vaccine country readiness and delivery. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/initiatives/ act-accelerator/covax/covid-19-vaccine-country-readiness-and-delivery, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 16. COVID-19 vaccine introduction and deployment costing tool (CVIC tool). Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/10665337553, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 17. Training for mid-level managers (MLM): Module 2: Partnering with communities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 https://www.who.int/immunization/documents/MLM\_module2.pdf, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 18. Patel AR, Nowalk MP. Expanding immunization coverage in rural India: a review of evidence for the role of community health workers. Vaccine. 2010;28(3):604-613 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.10.108, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Mueller U, Omosehin O, Akinkunmi A, Ayanbadejo J, Somefun E, Momah-Haruna A. Contact tracing in an African megacity during COVID 19: lessons learned. Afr J Reprod Health. 2020;24(2) (https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ajrh/article/view/199062, accessed 8 March 2021).

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide

- Guideline on health policy and system support to optimize community health worker programmes. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/275474/9789241550369-eng.pdf, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Inau E. Common functional user requirements for electronic registries supporting the provision of contraceptive methods. Deggendorf Institute of Technology, Germany; 2019 (https://figshare.com/articles/thesis/Common\_Functional\_User\_ Requirements\_for\_Electronic\_Registries\_Supporting\_the\_Provision\_of\_Contraceptive\_Methods/13550567, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Pandey P, Sehgal AR, Riboud M, Levine D, Goyal M. Informing resource-poor populations and the delivery of entitled health and social services in rural India: a cluster randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2007;298(16):1867–1875. doi:10.1001/ jama.298.16.1867.
- Kuhn L, Zwarenstein M. Evaluation of a village health worker programme: the use of village health worker retained records. Int J Epid. 1990;19(3):685-692 (https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/19.3.685, accessed & March 2021).
- Smith R, Cubbon S Wardle C. Under the surface: Covid-19 vaccine narratives, misinformation and data deficits on social media. First Draft. 2020 (https://firstdraftnews.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/FirstDraft\_Underthesurface\_Fullreport\_Final.pdf, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 25. Kasstan B. Vaccines and vitriol: an anthropological commentary on vaccine hesitancy, decision-making and interventionism among religious minorities. Anthropol Med. 2020;1-9. doi: 10.1080/13648470.2020.1825618.
- Chou WYS, Budenz A. Considering emotion in COVID-19 vaccine communication: addressing vaccine hesitancy and fostering vaccine confidence. Health Commun. 2020;35(14):1718-1722. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1838096.
- Du F, Chantler T, Francis MR, Sun FY, Zhang X, Han K et al. The determinants of vaccine hesitancy in China: a crosssectional study following the Changchun Changsheng vaccine incident. Vaccine. 2020;38(47):7464-7471. doi: 10.1016/j. vaccine.2020.09.075.
- 28. Hou Z, Du F, Zhou X, Jiang H, Martin S, Larson H et al. Cross-country comparison of public awareness, rumors, and behavioral responses to the COVID-19 epidemic: infodemiology study. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(8):e21143. doi: 10.2196/21143.
- 29. Wilson SL, Wiysonge C. Social media and vaccine hesitancy. BMJ Global Health. 2020;5:e004206.
- Lazarus JV, Ratzan SC, Palayew A, Gostin LO, Larson HJ, Rabin K et al. A global survey of potential acceptance of a COVID-19 vaccine. Nat Med. 2021;27:225–228 (https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-1124-9, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Conducting community engagement for COVID-19 vaccines: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-vaccination-community-engagement-2021.1, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 32. Saleh A, Kahn M, Cash RA. Beyond the rhetoric of equity: will the frontline healthcare workers who serve the poor be prioritized for the COVID vaccine? Washington (DC): Center for Global Development; 2020 (https://www.cgdev.org/blog/beyond-rhetoricequity-will-frontline-healthcare-workers-who-serve-poor-be-prioritized-covid, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Lehmann U, Sanders D. Community health workers: What do we know about them? Geneva; World Health Organization; 2007 (https://www.who.int/hrh/documents/community\_health\_workers.pdf, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Nabirye J, Okwi LA, Nuwematsiko R, Kiwanuka G, Muneza F, Kamya C et al. Health system factors influencing uptake of human papilloma virus (HPV) vaccine among adolescent girls 9–15 years in Mbale District, Uganda. BMC Pub Health. 2020;20(171) (https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12889-020-8302-z, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 35. Snidal S. Lessons learned from Uganda: delivering HPV vaccines to hard-to-reach girls. Clinton Health Access Initiative; 2018 (https://www.clintonhealthaccess.org/lessons-learned-uganda-delivering-hpv-vaccines-hard-reach-girls/, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Brugha RF, Kevany JP. Maximizing immunization coverage through home visits: a controlled trial in an urban area of Ghana. Bull World Health Organ. 1996;74(5):517–524.
- Establishing and strengthening immunization in the second year of life: practices for vaccination beyond infancy. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2018 (https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/260556/9789241513678-eng.pdf, accessed 8 March 2021).
- Ethiopia launches human papillomavirus vaccine for 14 year old girls. Addis Ababa: WHO Regional Office for Africa;
   2018 (https://www.afro.who.int/news/ethiopia-launches-human-papillomavirus-vaccine-14-year-old-girls, accessed
   8 March 2021).
- OpenWHO: COVID-19 vaccination training for health workers. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://openwho.org/ courses/covid-19-vaccination-healthworkers-en, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 40. Community Health Planning and Costing Tool. New York: United Nations Children's Fund; 2020 (https://www.unicef.org/ documents/community-health-planning-costing-tool, accessed 8 March 2021).

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide 🔶 🔶 🔶 🚹

- Skoll Foundation. Answering the call: how VillageReach's COVID 411 campaign fights the pandemic with innovative mobile solutions. 2020 (https://skoll.org/2020/07/30/answering-the-call-how-villagereachs-covid-411-campaign-is-fighting-thepandemic-with-innovative-mobile-solutions/, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 43. OpenWHO: Orientation to national deployment and vaccination planning for COVID-19 vaccines. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://openwho.org/courses/covid-19-ndvp-en, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 44. Fair allocation mechanism for COVID-19 vaccines through the COVAX Facility. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/fair-allocation-mechanism-for-covid-19-vaccines-through-the-covax-facility, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 45. Aide-memoire: infection prevention and control (IPC) principles and procedures for COVID-19 vaccination activities. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2021 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/338715, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 46. Mask use in the context of COVID-19: interim guidance. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020 (https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/337199, accessed 8 March 2021).
- 47. Miller NP, Milsom P, Johnson G, Bedford J, Kapeu AS, Diallo AO et al. Community health workers during the Ebola outbreak in Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone. J Glob Health. 2018;8(2):020601. doi:10.7189/jogh-08-020601.
- Community Health Worker Assessment and Improvement Matrix (CHW AIM). Updated program functionality matrix for optimizing community health programs. Community Health Impact Coalition, Initiatives Inc., UNICEF, USAID; 2018 (https://www. unicef.org/media/58176/file, accessed 8 March 2021).

The role of community health workers in COVID-19 vaccination: implementation support guide 🔶 🔶 🔶 🔶

+ + + + + + ╺╋╸ ╺╋╸ ╋ + ╋ \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* ╋ + ╺╋╸ ╺╋╸ + + + + ╋ + + + + + + + + ╺╋╸ ╺╋╸ ╋ ╋ ┢ + + + + + \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* \* + + + ╋ ╋ + + + + + + + + + ╺╺╋╸ + ╋ ╺╋╸ ╋ ╋ +╋ ╋ ++++ + + ++ ╺╋╸ ╋ + ╺╋╸ ╺┻╸ ╺╋╸ ╋╋ ╋



**World Health Organization** Avenue Appia 201211 Geneva 27 Switzerland www.who.int